## **Constitution of the International Amateur Radio Union**

The International Amateur Radio Union P.O. Box 310905 Newington Connecticut 06131-0905 U.S.A.

As Amended May 9, 1989

## **ARTICLE I -- NAME, OBJECTIVES, DEFINITIONS, AND STRUCTURE**

1. The name of this organization is the International Amateur Radio Union (IARU), hereinafter also referred to as the IARU.

2. Its objectives shall be the protection, promotion, and advancement of the Amateur and Amateur-Satellite Services within the framework of regulations established by the International Telecommunication Union, and to provide support to Member-Societies in the pursuit of these objectives at the national level, with special reference to the following:

a) representation of the interests of amateur radio at and between conferences and meetings of international telecommunications organizations;

b) encouragement of agreements between national amateur radio societies on matters of common interest;

c) enhancement of amateur radio as a means of technical self-training for young people;

d) promotion of technical and scientific investigations in the field of radiocommunication;

e) promotion of amateur radio as a means of providing relief in the event of natural disasters;

f) encouragement of international goodwill and friendship;

g) support of Member-Societies in developing amateur radio as a valuable national resource, particularly in developing countries; and

h) development of amateur radio in those countries not represented by Member-Societies.

3. Within this Constitution, the following terms shall have the meanings defined below.

**Amateur Service**: A radiocommunication service for the purpose of self-training, intercommunication and technical investigations carried out by amateurs, that is, by duly authorized persons interested in radio technique solely with a personal aim and without pecuniary interest.

**Amateur Satellite Service**: A radiocommunication service using space stations on earth satellites for the same purposes as those of the amateur service.

**National Amateur Radio Society**: A noncommercial association of radio amateurs, devoted to the objectives set forth in the preceding section of this Constitution and substantially covering by influence and recognition the country and/or territories which it represents.

**Member-Society**: A national amateur radio society that has been accepted for membership in the IARU

**Region**: A geographical area, the boundaries of which are defined in the Bylaws. Unless otherwise specified in the Bylaws, the Regions shall correspond to those into which, for frequency allocation purposes, the world has been divided by the <u>International Telecommunication Union</u>.

**International Secretariat**: The Member-Society elected to discharge the responsibilities enumerated in Article V.

**Bylaws**: The operative procedures of the IARU adopted under the provisions of this Constitution for the governance of its affairs.

4. In this Constitution and in the Bylaws of the IARU, words importing only the masculine gender include the feminine gender and the neutral gender; words importing only the singular number include the plural number, and vice versa; and words importing persons shall include corporations. Headings, marginal notes, and numbering of Articles and Paragraphs are inserted for ease of reference only and do not form part of this Constitution, nor shall they affect its interpretation.

- 5. The official language of the IARU is English.
- 6. The IARU is composed of the following:
- a) the Member-Societies (Article II);
- b) the Administrative Council (Article III);
- c) The Regional Organizations (Article IV).

7. The authority of the IARU resides collectively in the Member-Societies, who exercise this authority by voting as set forth in Articles VI and VII.

8. The structure and operation of the IARU shall be set forth in this Constitution and Bylaws.

9. No mutual financial obligations or responsibilities exist between entities or the IARU except as set forth in this Constitution; however, special arrangements may be made.

## **ARTICLE II -- MEMBER-SOCIETIES**

1. The membership of the IARU shall consist of its Member-Societies.

2. There shall be only one Member-Society representing a country or separate territory.

The Constitution and Bylaws of the IARU, and proposals adopted by vote of the Member-Societies in accordance with Article VI of this Constitution, shall be binding upon Member-Societies. Member-Societies shall also adhere to the Constitution, Bylaws and Rules of their regional organizations.

4. Member-Societies retain their complete autonomy with respect to their internal affairs.

5. A Member-Society has the right to:

a) cast its vote on all IARU proposals published in the Calendar;

b) present proposals in accordance with Article VI, paragraph 2 for vote by Member-Societies;

c) represent IARU in its country and/or territory; and

d) participate in the activities and conferences of its own regional organization in accordance with the Constitution, Bylaws, and Rules of its own regional organization.

6. Member-Societies shall have the rights, duties, and obligations as defined in the Bylaws of the IARU.

7. No Member Society shall, by virtue or its membership, be required to act in a manner that is contrary to the laws of its country.

8. Member-Societies shall have no financial obligations to the IARU; however, there may be financial obligations between a Member-Society and its regional organization.

9. Applications for membership shall be reviewed by the appropriate regional organization, and then processed by the Administrative Council in accordance with procedures set out in the Bylaws.

10. A Member-Society may resign its membership in the IARU by submitting written notice to the Secretary of the appropriate regional organization. The resignation shall become effective upon publication in the Calendar.

11. The rights of a Member-Society may not be suspended, nor may membership in the IARU be terminated, unless:

a) The Member-Society has failed to fulfill its duties under this Constitution;

b) The Member-Society has acted contrary to the interests of Amateur Radio or the IARU; or

c) The Member-Society no longer adequately represents the interests of radio amateurs throughout its country and/or separate territory.

12. Procedures for temporary suspension of rights, and for termination of membership, shall be established in the Bylaws. 'Termination shall be by vote of the Member-Societies as described in Article VI.

# **ARTICLE III -- ADMINISTRATIVE COUNCIL**

1. The policy and management of The IARU shall be carried out by the Administrative Council. The Administrative Council shall:

a) coordinate the representation or the interests of amateur radio at international telecommunications conferences with the regional organizations, under the direction of the President;

b) establish long-range planning in close cooperation with the regional organizations to preserve the basic purposes of amateur radio;

c) serve as coordinator between the regional organizations on all matters of mutual interest;

d) formulate such proposals for consideration by the Member-Societies as may be necessary to further the objectives of the IARU; and

c) adopt such resolutions and recommendations as will facilitate the functioning of the IARU.

2. The members of the Administrative Council shall be the President, the Vice President, the Secretary, and two members from each of the regional organizations. No member may have a professional interest which conflicts with the objectives of the IARU.

3. President.

a) The President shall be a Radio Amateur, and a member of a Member-Society.

b) The term of office of the President shall be for a period of five years from the date of ratification of his nomination, and he shall remain in office until the nomination of his successor has been ratified.

c) No later than 12 months prior to the expiration of the term or office of the President then in office, the International Secretariat shall initiate discussions with the Administrative Council to identify suitably qualified candidates available to serve as President. The nomination of a single candidate shall be made by the International Secretariat, but not until agreement has been reached between the International Secretariat and the Administrative Council that the candidate is suitably qualified.

d) A President shall be eligible for re-election.

e) The nomination of a President by the International Secretariat shall be subject to ratification by a vote of the Member-Societies in accordance with Article VI.

f) The office of President shall become vacant if the President:

1)dies,

2) gives notice in writing of his resignation to the Secretary, or

3) is removed by the adoption of a joint proposal put forward by at least 10% of the Member-Societies in accordance with the procedure described in Article VI.

4. The president shall have general supervision of the affairs of the IARU in accordance with formulated policies, and shall serve as chairman of the Administrative Council.

5. The qualifications, method of election, and term of office for the Vice President shall be identical with that of the President.

6. The Vice President shall serve in the absence of the President and shall be responsible for such matters of general supervision as may be delegated to him by the President.

7. In the event of a vacancy in the office of President, the Vice President shall succeed him. In the event of a vacancy in the office of the Vice President, the office shall be filled in accordance with the procedure described in Article III, paragraph 3.

8. The Secretary shall be designated by the International Secretariat and shall serve for a term determined by that Member-Society.

9. The Secretary shall manage the routine affairs of the IARU under the direction of the President.

10. The members of the Administrative Council from the regional organizations shall be Radio Amateurs and members of Member-Societies of their respective regional organizations. They shall be elected according to the rules of, and serve for a term determined by, their respective regional organizations. From each regional organization at least one, and wherever possible both, of the members shall be members of their regional executive committee.

11. The expenses of participation in the work of the Administrative Council by the President, Vice President, and Secretary, together with the administrative expenses associated with the holding of a meeting, shall be borne by The International Secretariat; the expenses of the members from the regional organizations shall be borne by their respective regional organizations.

12. Five members, including at least one from each regional organization and either the President or the Vice President, shall constitute a quorum.

13. Each member of the Administrative Council shall have one vote, except that the President shall vote only in the event of a tie.

14. Normally, the Administrative Council shall meet annually at a time and place to be determined at the previous meeting. Additional meetings of the Administrative Council may he called by the President or at the joint request of the regional organizations. In the event of a member of the Administrative Council not being able to attend a meeting of the Administrative Council, the executive committee of the regional organization shall provide a suitably qualified alternate.

15. Between meetings, decisions may be made by correspondence or other means.

16. The Administrative Council may adopt rules governing its operations in addition to those specified herein.

## **ARTICLE IV -- REGIONAL ORGANIZATIONS**

1. The regional organizations are formed by Member-Societies representing the countries or separate territories in the respective Regions. The boundaries of the regional organizations correspond to those of the Regions. The regional organizations shall be referred to as "IARU, Region []."

2. There shall be only one regional organization in each Region.

3. The objectives of the regional organizations shall be in accordance with Article I, paragraph 2 of this Constitution.

4. Each regional organization shall operate autonomously under its own regional constitution, and in accordance with the IARU Constitution.

5. Each regional organization shall have its own management and finances.

6. The management of a regional organization is carried out by an executive committee, the members of which are elected by the Member-Societies of the regional organization under the regional constitution.

7. Each regional organization shall ensure that its Member-Societies are actively supporting, in the countries or separate territories that they represent, the objectives of the IARU as set forth in Article I, paragraph 2.

8. Each regional organization shall participate actively in the work of the Administrative Council and shall inform the Administrative Council of significant activities within its Region.

## **ARTICLE V -- THE INTERNATIONAL SECRETARIAT**

1. The Member-Societies shall elect one of their number willing to and capable of serving as the International Secretariat of the IARU.

2. The term of service of a Member-Society as International Secretariat shall continue until the election of a successor.

3. The operating expenses of the IARU shall be borne by the International Secretariat: however, it shall be under no obligation to bear expenses on behalf of the IARU beyond those that are incidental to its discharging the responsibilities enumerated in this Constitution.

4. The International Secretariat shall maintain the official records of the IARU and shall be the custodian of any property and funds belonging to the IARU. In the event of a transfer of the International Secretariat, all records, and control of all property and funds of the IARU shall be transmitted promptly to the successor.

5. The Administrative Council may establish bank accounts in the name of the IARU.

6. At least twice a year, the International Secretariat shall issue a periodical bulletin named The Calendar to all Member-Societies and to the members of the regional executive committees. The Calendar shall contain all proposals to be considered by the Member-Societies and other information as directed by the Administrative Council.

## **ARTICLE VI -- VOTING BY MEMBER-SOCIETIES**

1. In the consideration of proposals brought before the IARU in accordance with this Constitution, each Member-Society shall have one vote.

2. A Proposal may be made by any Member-Society through its regional organization, which shall transmit it to the Administrative Council for publication in the next issue of the Calendar. Publication shall be accompanied by explanatory comment. Proposals also may be made by the regional organizations and the Administrative Council.

3. A Member-Society shall cast its vote in writing so that it is received by the International Secretariat not later than five months after publication of the Calendar containing the proposal. Votes received late shall not be counted.

4. After voting is completed, the Administrative Council shall publish the results in the next issue of the Calendar, including a list of Member-Societies voting in favor, those voting against, those recording an abstention, and all explanatory statements submitted for publication by Member-Societies.

5. Except for amendments to the Constitution and the termination of membership of a Member-Society, proposals shall be deemed adopted upon the casting of affirmative votes by a simple majority of the Member-Societies who have submitted, within the specified time, a vote or abstention, either on that proposal or in response to one of the three preceding issues of the Calendar which contained proposals for consideration by the Member-Societies.

6. The termination of membership of a Member-Society shall require a vote in accordance with the procedure described in Article VI, paragraph 5, except that a two-thirds majority shall be required.

## **ARTICLE VII -- AMENDMENTS**

1. This Constitution may be amended by proposal in the Calendar, subject to a vote in accordance with the procedure described in Article VI, paragraph 5, except that a two-thirds majority shall be required.

2. Bylaws may be adopted or amended by proposal in the Calendar, subject to a vote in accordance with the procedure described in Article VI, paragraph 5, of the Constitution.

## BYLAWS OF THE INTERNATIONAL AMATEUR RADIO UNION

### Applications for Membership

1. Applications for membership in IARU shall be forwarded by the applicant society to the secretariat of the appropriate regional organization. As soon as practical, the regional organization shall forward to the Administrative Council any complete application that it has

received, along with either a favorable or unfavorable finding with respect to the qualifications of the applicant, and any additional comments which it may wish to make. In the event an incomplete application is received or additional information is desired, the regional secretariat shall endeavor to obtain the information from the applicant.

2. An applicant for membership shall include the following in its application:

a) a copy of its constitution or other governing document;

b) a list of its officers, the total number of its members, the number of members who are licensed to transmit in the Amateur Service, and the number of licensed operators in its country and/or separate territory;

c) satisfactory evidence that it:

1) adequately represents the interests of amateurs throughout the country and/or separate territory which it proposes to represent:

2) has the ability to meet its financial obligations as a member of the Union; and

3) is legally able to act in the furtherance of IARU objectives within its country and/or separate territory; and

d) a declaration that the applicant society will adhere to the Constitutions of both the IARU and the respective regional organization.

3. Within three months of receiving an application for membership on which a regional organization made a favorable finding, the Administrative Council shall publish in the Calendar a proposal that the applicant be admitted to membership, with sufficient information to permit Member-Societies to make an informed decision.

4. The Administrative Council shall review applications on which a regional organization has made an unfavorable finding. If in the opinion of the Administrative Council there is insufficient basis for the unfavorable finding, the application shall be returned to the regional organization with the request either that it be given further consideration, or that the basis for the finding be further explained.

#### **Duties and Obligations of Member-Societies**

5. Member-Societies shall seek to promote and defend the objectives and principles established in the Constitution and Bylaws of the IARU and the Constitution, Bylaws and Rules of their own regional organization.

6. A Member-Society has the obligation to represent and promote IARU in its country and/or territory and shall ensure that the principles, resolutions and recommendations of the IARU are made known to all amateurs within its area of influence.

7. A Member-Society shall attend or be represented at its own regional conference in accordance with the Constitution, Bylaws, and Rules of its regional organization.

8. A Member-Society shall respond to all inquiries originating from the Regional and/or International Secretariat. It shall provide the Regional Secretariat with an annual report, notices of changes of addresses and/or officers, copies of substantive correspondence sent to the International Secretariat, and such other information that is relevant to its activities within the IARU.

9. Every Member-Society shall advise the Secretary of any conflicts that may exist between the Constitution or the Bylaws of IARU, or any proposals adopted by the IARU. and the laws and policies of its country.

### Temporary Suspension of Rights of a Member-Society

10. At the request of a regional organization, the Administrative Council may place the rights of a Member-Society temporarily in abeyance if in its opinion there exist sufficient grounds for doing so in accordance with Article II, paragraph 11 of the Constitution.

### Termination of Membership

11. If it appears to the Administrative Council, whether from a report from the Secretary, regional organization, or otherwise, that a Member-Society's breach of the conditions enumerated in Article II, paragraph 11 of the Constitution is not of a temporary nature, the Administrative Council may:

- a) take no further action in the matter;
- b) reconsider the matter at a later date;

c) obtain further information including a report from the relevant regional organization and such other information by such means and in such time as it decides;

d) direct the Secretary to advise the Member-Society of the charge against it and require the Member-Society to provide an answer thereto in such time as the Administrative Council shall specify; or

e) take such other action as it considers appropriate.

12. If it appears to the Administrative Council that it is proper to do so, it may make a proposal for the termination of the membership of a Member-Society, provided that no such proposal shall be made unless the action referred to in Bylaw 11(d) has been taken and the Administrative Council has considered any answer given in response thereto.

13. A proposal for the termination of the membership of a Member-Society shall be accompanied by a suitable explanation therefor and a copy of the answer, if any, made by the Member-Society.

### Regions

14. The Regions shall be defined as follows:

### Region 1

Includes the area limited on the east by line A (lines A, B and C are defined below) and on the west by line B, excluding any of the territory of Iran which lies between these limits. It also includes that part of the territory of Turkey and the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics lying outside of these limits, the territory of the Mongolian People's Republic, and the area to the north of the USSR which lies between lines A and C.

### **Region 2**

Region 2 includes the area limited on the east by line B and on the west by line C.

### **Region 3**

Region 3 includes the area limited on the east by line C and on the west by line A, except the territories of the Mongolian People's Republic, Turkey, the territory of the USSR and the area to the north of the USSR. It also includes that part of the territory of Iran lying outside of those limits.

The lines A, B and C are defined as follows:

**Line A:** Line A extends from the North Pole along meridian 40 degrees East of Greenwich to parallel 40 degrees North; thence by great circle arc to the intersection of meridian 60 degrees East and the Tropic of Cancer; thence along the meridian 60 degrees East to the South Pole.

**Line B:** Line B extends from The North Pole along meridian 10 degrees West of Greenwich to its intersection with parallel 72 degrees North; thence by great circle arc to the intersection of meridian 50 degrees West and parallel 40 degrees North; thence by great circle arc to the intersection of meridian 20 degrees West and parallel 10 degrees South; thence along meridian 20 degrees West to the South Pole.

**Line C:** Line C extends from the North Pole by great circle arc to the intersection of parallel 65 degrees 30 North with the international boundary in Bering Strait; thence by great circle arc to the intersection of meridian 165 degrees East of Greenwich and parallel 50 degrees North; thence by great circle arc to the intersection of meridian 170 degrees West and parallel 10 degrees North; thence along parallel 10 degrees North to its intersection with meridian 120 degrees West; thence along meridian 120 degrees West to the South Pole.

### Correspondence Procedure

15. A copy of all correspondence from a Member-Society to the Administrative Council, or from the International Secretariat to a Member-Society, including correspondence on behalf of the Administrative Council to a Member-Society, shall be sent to the Secretary of the appropriate regional organization.

#### Selection, Resignation, and Replacement of the International Secretariat

16. Nomination of an IARU Member-Society to serve as the International Secretariat may be made either by a Member-Society, a regional organization or the Administrative Council and shall be accompanied by a supporting rationale. In addition, the nominated Member-Society must attest to its willingness to serve and its ability to fulfill the requirements and obligations as described in Article V of the Constitution.

17. If the Member-Society serving as the International Secretariat wishes to resign, it shall submit its resignation in writing to the Administrative Council. The resignation shall be published in the next issue of the Calendar together with an invitation for nomination of a successor.

18. A proposal to replace a Member-Society serving as the International Secretariat shall include a nomination of a successor.